

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Analytica Chimica Acta 1146 (2021) 184-199

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Analytica Chimica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aca

Review

A critical review of point-of-care diagnostic technologies to combat viral pandemics



Micaela L. Everitt, Alana Tillery, Martha G. David, Nikita Singh, Aviva Borison, Ian M. White^{*}

Fischell Department of Bioengineering, University of Maryland, United States

HIGHLIGHTS

G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T

- Despite decades of research, no products can to meet the testing needs of a pandemic.
- We propose new guidelines for the design of point-of-care tests for pandemics.
- We summarize the literature on point-of-care diagnostics for pandemics.
- We find that sample preparation steps are the primary hindrance to deployment.
- We provide a list of recommended research topics to prepare for future pandemics.

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 8 September 2020 Received in revised form 3 October 2020 Accepted 5 October 2020 Available online 11 October 2020

Keywords: Point-of-care COVID-19 Influenza Ebola Pandemic Lab-on-a-chip



ABSTRACT

The COVID-19 global pandemic of 2019–2020 pointedly revealed the lack of diagnostic solutions that are able to keep pace with the rapid spread of the virus. Despite the promise of decades of lab-on-a-chip research, no commercial products were available to deliver rapid results or enable testing in the field at the onset of the pandemic. In this critical review, we assess the current state of progress on the development of point-of-care technologies for the diagnosis of viral diseases that cause pandemics. While many previous reviews have reported on progress in various lab-on-a-chip technologies, here we address the literature from the perspective of the testing needs of a rapidly expanding pandemic. First, we recommend a set of requirements to heed when designing point-of-care diagnostic technologies to address the testing needs of a pandemic. We then review the current state of assay technologies with a focus on isothermal amplification and lateral-flow immunoassays. Though there is much progress on assay development, we argue that the largest roadblock to deployment exists in sample preparation. We summarize current approaches to automate sample preparation and discuss both the progress and shortcomings of these developments. Finally, we provide our recommendations to the field of specific challenges to address in order to prepare for the next pandemic.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. Fischell Department of Bioengineering, 8278 Paint Branch Dr., University of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20742301, USA. *E-mail address:* ianwhite@umd.edu (I.M. White).

Contents

1.	Introduction	185
2.	One hundred years of pandemics	186
3.	Today's commercial tools do not combat pandemics	187
	3.1. Nucleic acid amplification tests	187
	3.2. Antigen tests	188
4.	Assay methodologies under investigation	189
	4.1. Isothermal nucleic acid amplification	189
	4.1.1. Reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP)	189
	4.1.2. Reverse transcription recombinase polymerase amplification (RT-RPA)	190
	4.2. Viral protein detection	191
	4.3. Serological testing	192
5.	Sample preparation is the key challenge	192
6.	Fully integrated systems are necessary for sample-to-answer	194
7.	Outlook and recommendations	194
8.	Conclusions	195
	Declaration of competing interest	195
	Acknowledgments	195
	Supplementary data	195
		195

1. Introduction

Despite the tremendous advances in medical technology in the last 100 years, our world is still vulnerable to pandemics. To mitigate the spread of a viral outbreak, epidemic, or pandemic, contact tracing (identifying individuals who have recently come into contact with infected individuals) is critical to facilitate self-quarantine and accurate epidemiological records as well as other preventative or diagnostic measures [1,2]. However, contact tracing only hinders viral transmission if sufficient testing is available and accessible [3,4]. Densely populated regions present a particular challenge, not only because of the close living and working conditions of inhabitants and the low number of hospital beds per capita, but also because of the difficulty of rapidly deploying diagnostic tests for a significant fraction of the population [5]. The rampant spread of COVID-19 disease (caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus) in the United States in 2020 illustrates this observation. During the rapid expansion of the pandemic across the US, testing availability was far below the demand, often causing delays in testing results of up to several weeks as well as leaving too many patients untested. As a result, the virus spread rapidly, largely unchecked. To brace against future pandemics, it is clear that the world needs better testing capabilities [6].

Today, the vast majority of diagnostic tests for viral pathogens are performed in reference labs or large commercial labs. While the test itself is brief, the need to ship the sample to the centralized facility, where it may wait in a long queue for testing (due to the low number of testing labs per capita), implies that results are generally delivered to patients and public health officials within days instead of minutes. Over the course of 2020 a number of instruments and corresponding tests received waivers from the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) to operate outside of a central lab. However, individual tests are prohibitively expensive, and each instrument is only able to process one test at a time, thus keeping throughput inadequate for fighting a widespread pandemic.

Despite decades of R&D on point-of-care (PoC) diagnostics prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, including broad efforts by the microfluidics community, a solution capable of large-scale deployment and rapid results has not been achieved. We believe that this is partially due to incorrect perceptions of the key requirements for PoC testing, and in particular the requirements for addressing a pandemic. Many research efforts have operated under the assumption that microfluidics implies PoC or that the employment of low-cost materials, such as paper, are sufficient to lead to PoC implementation and large-scale deployment. However, the vast research in these areas has not led to a viable solution to address testing needs during a pandemic. Instead of following these technological dogmas, we instead propose the following requirements for diagnostic tests in order to combat pandemics:

- **S**ample-**T**o-**A**nswer: single step, such that the tester only needs to insert the raw sample to receive the result.
- **R**apid (assay time to answer, assay development time): result can be delivered to the patient before they leave the test site; new tests can be developed rapidly in response to emerging infectious agents.
- Local: performed at the patient testing site.
- Inexpensive: low per-test cost such that densely populated or urban regions can afford to test a significant fraction of their population.
- Throughput: high throughput, enabling tests to be conducted simultaneously and asynchronously on a high number of individuals with modest Equipment requirements.

Our STARLITE recommendations apply specifically to a pandemic response. More generalized guidelines for PoC infectious disease diagnostics have been put forth by the World Health Organization (WHO) using the acronym ASSURED—*a*ffordable,

Table	1	
WHO	ASSURED	criteria

Α	Affordable	low cost for end users
S	Sensitive	avoids false negatives
S	Specific	avoids false positives
U	User friendly	simple to perform
R	Rapid/robust	sample collection and results in same visit/long shelf life
Ε	Equipment-free	battery-powered, compact
D	Deliverable	portable, hand-held

sensitive, specific, user friendly, rapid and robust (no refrigeration required), *equipment-free*, and *d*eliverable to those in need (Table 1) [7]. Since the advent of ASSURED, there have been suggested augments to try to keep the requirements up to date with current technology. For instance, Land et al., using the acronym REASSURED, added the need for real-time connectivity to increase the transmission of test data, increasing the ease of sample collection, and increasing the environmental friendliness [8]. The US FDA has established a similar set of guidelines that must be met for a diagnostic to be used outside of a certified central lab (i.e., the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendment – CLIA (Table 2)) [9]. On top of the guidelines in ASSURED, the FDA expands upon the "user friendly" term to include minimal required training, no precise measurements, no user interpretations, and no user intervention steps. While many research groups have been inspired by the WHO guidelines, the "user friendly" guideline is often underappreciated, and thus sample-to-answer methods are rarely reported in the literature. At the same time, commercial solutions have not properly addressed the affordable and equipment-free aspects of the guidelines.

Consider how our proposed STARLITE criteria are aligned with the needs of massive testing in urban areas, and how the current commercial solutions are not aligned with these needs. One model of massive-scale testing in an urban region is illustrated clearly by the deployment of drive-through screening [10], in which patients stay in their cars, become eligible for testing via a questionnaire, and are then swabbed as they drive by technicians. Because of today's limited testing capabilities, swabs are rationed to eligible patients despite evidence of asymptomatic transmission [11]. For those who are tested, swabs are compiled and shipped to large commercial or reference labs, where they wait in a queue. Thus, instead of delivering results immediately on-site to the patient and health care officials, results are not returned for days or weeks. This delay is significant for contact tracing, as it allows an extended period for those who may have been infected by the patient to further spread the virus. In addition, as observed directly by one of the authors (AT) who worked at a testing site, many of those tested are difficult to contact after they leave the drive-through testing due to lack of email address or reliable phone number. Moreover, patients without an email address must return to the testing site to retrieve a hard copy of the results, thus breaking quarantine and endangering those with whom they come into contact. Additional challenges exist in following up with non-native speakers. Thus, we believe that it is critical to deliver the result before the patient leaves the site. In order to do this, the test must not only be rapid, but it must also be performed at the field site, requiring it to be both sample-to-answer (i.e., no user interventions or precise transfer steps), and requiring only modest equipment that can process a very high number of tests simultaneously and asynchronously (i.e., samples are not gueued and binned). These requirements are captured by our STARLITE recommendations, listed in Table 3.

In this critical review, we discuss current commercial solutions for PoC viral diagnostics and discuss how these systems do not meet the needs of testing during a pandemic (see Table 4). We then

Table 2

discuss trends in assay development for viral diagnostics, highlighting those aspects of the assays that either are or are not aligned with our proposed requirements. Importantly, as sample preparation may be the key barrier to field deployment of testing, we then review the literature on integrated sample preparation, emphasizing what is still needed to achieve a solution for rapid testing in the field. Finally, we provide our recommendations for the diagnostic community to consider as we attempt to overcome the COVID-19 crisis and prepare for the next pandemic.

Note that to ensure rigor in this review, we only analyze and discuss peer-reviewed publications; we do not include any references to work that only appear in preprint.

2. One hundred years of pandemics

In this review we focus on viral pathogens that have led to pandemics and that are expected to continue to haunt the world's population. Consideration of pandemics begins with the Spanish Flu of 1918, which was the worst pandemic of the 20th century, with an estimated 500 million infected (one third of the world population at the time) and 17 to 100 million dead [12,13]. This H1N1 virus (of avian origin) devastated much of a world that was severely underprepared. Contrastingly, by the 1957–1958 Pandemic, the production of a vaccine within three months of its declared emergence was possible [12,14]. The H2N2 virus (of avian origin) eventually disappeared from known circulation but is suspected to have mutated via antigenic drift into the H3N2 strain that caused the Hong Kong Flu of 1968 [15]. Estimated infections and casualties for these two pandemics were limited due to lack of coordinated data pooling, but each is suspected to have caused at least one million deaths worldwide, significantly higher than the more recent, H1N1pdm09 Flu Pandemic (of swine origin) in 2009, which took the lives of an estimated 151,700 to 575,400 people worldwide [16].

Unlike influenza viruses whose mortality typically fall under 0.1% of all infected cases, Ebola virus disease (EBVD) has mortality rates upwards of 50% in the case of the Zaire ebolavirus (one of four ebolaviruses transmissible to humans) [17,18]. Generally limited to sub-Saharan Africa, outbreaks of EBVD have been a periodic occurrence since its discovery in 1976, often spiking at a few hundred cases. In 2014, however, a large epidemic of Zaire ebolavirus spread rapidly from Guinea to the surrounding region [18,19]. A vaccine against Zaire ebolavirus and several antiviral treatments were developed to curb the spread, which eventually infected over 28,600 and killed 11,325 people [17,18].

Over the last two decades, several varieties of betacoronaviruses have become of increasing potential pandemic concern. Beginning in 2003, a short outbreak of a Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) virus (of suspected horseshoe bat origin) emerged in China and quickly spread to 31 countries [20–22]. SARS infected 8098 and killed 774 worldwide and was determined to have an 11% global case fatality ratio [20,23]. Most recently, in 2019–2020, the world has been assailed by a new coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 (of suspected bat origin) first identified in Wuhan, China [24]. At the time of

FDA CLIA-waiver of	criteria.	
1	Knowledge	minimal technical knowledge
2	Training	minimal training required
3	Reagent preparation	stable reagents and minimal preparation
4	Operational steps	no manual steps required
5	Calibration materials	stable calibration materials
6	Troubleshooting	troubleshooting is automatic or requires minimal judgement
7	Interpretation	minimal interpretation of results

Table 3

STARLITE: our i	recommended	requirements	for the design of	f diagnostic	systems to	o meet the i	needs of testi	ng during a	pandemic res	sponse.
			0	<u> </u>	~			0 0		

STA	Sample-to-answer	single step, no user interventions
R	Rapid	results delivered before patient leaves; assay can be developed rapidly
L	Local	performed at testing site
I	Inexpensive	low per-test cost
TE	Throughput/Equipment	high throughput with modest equipment requirements

Table 4

Detection limits for cited assays detecting SARS-COV-2.

RT-PCR	1000 copies/mL	[26]
RT-LAMP	8000 copies/mL	[54]
RT-RPA	100 copies/mL	[74]
LFIA	77.97 PFU/mL	[48]

submission (Oct. 2020), SARS-CoV-2 is suspected to have infected around 34 million and killed over one million worldwide [25]. While responses to the virus have varied across countries, the scientific endeavours to end the crisis have been relentless and informed by oversights in past pandemics [26]. Perhaps most notably, the genome of SARS-CoV-2, which was quickly sequenced and compared with that of SARS-CoV, has increased our understanding of the viral mechanics and has sped up production of diagnostics, proposed treatments, and vaccines [27].

While this review focuses on pandemics, the lessons learned from diagnostics of influenza, EBVD, and SARS/COVID can be applied to many other dangerous viruses, including HIV, Hepatitis C, and tropical viruses, such as Zika virus. Given the prevalence of the diseases associated with these viruses in low-middle income countries, there is a clear need for a field-deployable and low-cost solution, though the requirements may differ from the STARLITE recommendations that we are proposing for pandemics. However, the benefit to providing a diagnostic result upon first patient contact is consistent across all these viruses.

3. Today's commercial tools do not combat pandemics

3.1. Nucleic acid amplification tests

The current gold-standard for diagnosing a viral infection is reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), which directly detects the presence of the virus's RNA genome in the sample taken from the patient. The steps of the process are diagrammed in Fig. 1. In this method, the sample is added to a lysis buffer, which releases the RNA from the viral capsid. The RNA is then isolated using a multistep process in which it is first bound to a solid substrate or magnetic capture beads, washed, and then eluted into the RT-PCR reaction mixture. In the RT-PCR reaction, reverse transcriptase copies all RNA into complementary DNA (cDNA) (for viruses with DNA genomes, this reverse transcriptase step is skipped). Finally, quantitative PCR is run on the cDNA. In this reaction, DNA primers bind to the specifically targeted unique sequence that is used to identify the particular virus, which enables DNA polymerase to make a copy by extending the primers; this reaction is cycled repeatedly, resulting in expansion of the targeted sequence at an exponential rate. Reaction cycling is driven by temperature cycles for annealing of DNA primers, extension of primers, melting of DNA strands, annealing, etc. For quantification, a real-time fluorescence signal is used to determine a time point when a signal threshold is crossed; this time point is directly correlated to the number of cDNA copies in the initial reaction.

Progress in instrumentation and reagents have made this procedure relatively automated and fast. Instruments have been



Fig. 1. Schematic of RT-PCR: During the RT step, (A) reverse transcriptase converts the RNA target sequence to DNA, which is added to the PCR reaction (B) to serve as the template sequence. PCR consists of cycling through three temperatures to amplify a DNA sequence. First, (a) the double-stranded sequence is denatured during the melt step. Next, (b) the primers anneal to complementary regions of the template. Finally, (c) DNA polymerase extends the primers along the template. With each cycle (d), PCR exponentially generates copies of the sequence of interest.

developed that perform automatic RNA extraction from multiple samples. Reagent kits are available that combine the multi-step RT-PCR assay into a single step through the "hot-start" procedure, which sequesters the PCR reagents until the RT reaction is complete. Combined with high-throughput robotic sample handling, thousands of samples can be processed each day by one set of instruments. However, because of the size, sophisticated user steps, and cost of this instrumentation, these capabilities are limited to large reference and commercial clinical labs, implying that results are returned days after the initial specimen collection, i.e., after the initial contact between patient and health-care official.

Challenges exist in transitioning RT-PCR to a PoC platform that meets our proposed STARLITE criteria, as well as the ASSURED criteria and/or can receive a CLIA waiver. One challenge is eliminating the multiple precise steps of the RNA isolation and addition to the reaction. A second challenge is eliminating the costly instrumentation requirements for thermocycling that is required by PCR. Currently there are three platforms that have received a CLIA waiver from the US FDA to diagnose various respiratory infections in the setting of a clinician's office. In addition, these three systems have received Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) from the US FDA for the diagnosis of COVID-19.

The Cepheid GeneXpert is a modular platform that enables asynchronous testing in individual samples and has received a CLIA waiver for both influenza and RSV. The system is cartridge-based such that the cartridge contains the materials and reagents for nucleic acid purification and amplification. The sample (typically in viral transport media) is loaded into the cartridge without the need for precise pipetting. Within the cartridge, virus particles are lysed, RNA is purified, and then the targeted RNA sequences are amplified with RT-PCR, all without the need for precise reagent transfers or interventions from the user. Cepheid states that the hands-on time is less than 60 s and the time to result is less than 30 min. Several reports in the literature have assessed the performance of the Cepheid system [28–31], all confirming the brief hands-on time. The literature shows a trend of decreasing assay time, with recent publications validating the 30-min sample-to-answer claim [31]. In that work, Valentin et al. tested over 300 nasopharyngeal swabs from patients in an emergency department and measured a sensitivity of 98.2% and a specificity of 97% for influenza A/B. Cohen et al. tested swabs for influenza A/B, as well as RSV in emergency departments, outpatient clinics, and urgent care clinics, thus confirming its use in settings outside of the central lab [30]. Sensitivities ranged from 97% to 100% for the three viruses, while specificity ranged from 95% to 100%.

The Roche Cobas Lab-in-a-tube (Liat) PCR system has received a CLIA waiver, CE-IVD mark, and is FDA 510(k) cleared for influenza A/ B (without virus-A subtypes) and RSV. Its use requires that individual nasopharyngeal swab samples be submersed in 2 mL virus transport medium and 200 µL of specimen be pipetted into a single-use assay tube. Once the tube is inserted into the system, the processing of the sample is fully automated – including nucleic acid extraction and purification followed by PCR amplification and detection. Roche states that the overall time required to process a sample is 20 min (5 min of handling and 15 min of processing). Several studies [30,32-38] have assessed and compared the reliability of the Roche Cobas Liat against similar competing devices and concur on its fast and easy-to-use aspects. Adults tested in a "real-world" clinical setting [37] yielded the lowest values of sensitivity (influenza A: 83.0%, influenza B: 84.6%, RSV: 77.8%) in the literature. Other reports in more classical diagnostic settings generally reported high sensitivity (influenza A: 96.2%-100%, influenza B: 94.4%-100%, and RSV: 96.8%-100%). Specificities for all diseases were consistently high, averaging as follows: influenza A: 99.3%, influenza B: 99.6%, RSV: 99.3%. Regarding studies on SARS-CoV-2 testing [39,40], results were limited by small sample sets, lack of gold-standard comparison, and limited understanding of the virus and COVID-19 infection, among other hurdles. Nevertheless, these studies showed an average sensitivity of 94.6% and specificity of 99.8%.

Abbott Laboratories' ID NOW is a CLIA-waived tabletop device designed as a rapid detection sample-to-answer assay for the detection of certain viruses, including influenza A/B and more recently, SARS-CoV-2. As opposed to the Liat and GenExpert, the ID NOW uses an isothermal amplification method based on strand displacement amplification (SDA) [41]. After two sample containment units are loaded into the ID NOW machine and heated, a nasal, throat, or nasopharyngeal swab sample is stirred in the pre-warmed elution/lysis buffer for 10 s, after which the unit is sealed, and the

nucleic acid amplification begins. The ID NOW for influenza A/B has been shown to be effective at diagnosing both influenza A and B, offering a quick turnaround of fewer than 13 min, or 5 min in the slightly less specific "early callout" mode. It is able to consistently achieve sensitivities at and above 95% and is overall considered to be one of the most effective tests for influenza A and B [42–44]. When adapted for SARS-CoV-2 detection, the ID NOW test continues to require less than 13 min, but only achieves overall sensitivity of 73.9%, which drops to only 34.3% for low viral load cases [45]. These low sensitivities likely result from incompatibility between the ID NOW system and the typical workflow for COVID-19 diagnostics, where viral transport media serves as the sample [46,47].

These three systems represent excellent progress towards bringing diagnostics closer to the patient. They can confirm influenza, RSV, and other common infections in the doctor's office or walk-in clinic. However, these systems do not have the low per-test cost or throughput needed to deliver massive testing in the field to respond to a pandemic. Each instrument only processes one test at a time, requiring a high number of instruments to be deployed at testing sites such as drive-through locations. Further progress is needed to optimize testing in response to a pandemic, in particular, the elimination of costly equipment and a significant increase in testing throughput while maintaining sample-to-answer capabilities.

3.2. Antigen tests

An alternative to nucleic acid amplification tests is detecting the presence of the virus through specific proteins on or in the virus, i.e., antigens. Although this appeals to PoC settings as they can operate at ambient temperatures and require no RNA purification step, the lack of exponential amplification can hinder detection limits. However, viruses do contain many copies of some antigen biomarkers, which can somewhat make up for this lack of amplification.

Quidel has developed a fluorescent immunoassay based on lateral-flow technology called Sofia to detect a variety of viruses including RSV, influenza A, influenza B, and most recently, SARS-CoV-2. Sun et al. discussed the performance of the Sofia against another rapid antigen test, BinaxNOW [48], and determined Quidel's assay outperformed its competitor in terms of detection limit when detecting RSV. Sofia also provides rapid results (15 min) and a long shelf life (2 years) with no refrigeration required, appealing to PoC settings in particular. As compared to conventional lateral flow immunoassays (LFIAs), the Sofia uses a fluorescence readout with a powerful camera to enable its limit of detection to be comparable with nucleic acid amplification.

Since the release of the Sofia, a few additional antigen tests have received an EUA from the US FDA. Because they have been released recently, these tests do not yet have independent and peer reviewed assessments in the literature. Thus, we describe them here but do not provide quantitative performance values.

Similar to the Sofia, BD's Veritor is a LFIA, providing rapid results in about 15 min, while reporting competitive detection limits. However, like the Sofia, this antigen test uses a fluorescence reader, which does not align with testing during a pandemic as it requires an expensive piece of equipment and has a limited throughput as each device can only perform one test at a time. The LumiraDx SARS-CoV-2 antigen test is a microfluidic system that can be performed in about 12 min, with detection limits comparable to the aforementioned LFIAs. Again, in order to get these competitive detection limits, LumiraDx requires the use of a fluorescence reader, which only reads one chip at a time and thus does not meet the proposed STARLITE criteria for pandemics due to the high cost and low throughput.

An additional antigen test for COVID-19, from Abbott, has received an EUA from the FDA. Similar to the assays described above, this LFIA requires the patient to use a nasal swab. The user drops extraction buffer into a hole on the well of the device before inserting the swab. After closing the device, the results are available in 15 min, a comparable assay time. However, uniquely, this test does not require the use of an instrument to reach a competitive detection limit. Because this test does not require an instrument to receive the diagnosis, a high number of tests can be processed quickly (e.g., simply by taking photos with a tablet); thus, there is a potential to integrate it into the workflow of a large-scale testing center, such as a drive-through test site, while providing the patients with their results before leaving the facility.

Although these new antigen tests are promising, particularly the instrument-free solution, about 30 million people were infected and about 900,000 people died before the Abbott system became available, illustrating the drawback of simply relying on antigen tests. Contrastingly, RT-PCR tests can be developed within about a week of the sequencing of the pathogen, suggesting that nucleic acid amplification tests should continue to be considered as the first line of defense for future pandemics.

4. Assay methodologies under investigation

4.1. Isothermal nucleic acid amplification

Due to the strict thermal requirements of traditional RT-PCR, newer isothermal amplification methods have been developed to both reduce the complexity and cost associated with the rapid cycling temperatures, while also speeding up the assay. However, thermal cycling is challenging to eliminate. In particular, the melt step in PCR enables the newly polymerized double strand to separate, allowing the primers to bind during the annealing step. Isothermal amplification methods inherently eliminate high temperatures for denaturation and thus instead must rely on alternative strategies for primer binding. This section illustrates the progress made regarding these isothermal amplification strategies, while also highlighting the limitations, particularly in the context of pandemics. The primer sequences used in the amplification schemes discussed in this review can be found in the Electronic Supplementary Materials.

4.1.1. Reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP)

LAMP is the most commonly investigated isothermal amplification scheme for PoC devices. As opposed to PCR, LAMP uses four or six primers that hybridize to the complement target region of DNA without the need of cycling the temperature (Fig. 2) [49]. LAMP operates at approximately 65 °C, an optimal temperature for enzyme activity and primer binding. The inner primers contain a portion identical to a downstream target region, which is used to form a hairpin. The inner primer initiates DNA polymerization and the strand is extended along the target region. This extended strand is displaced by the polymerase starting from the outer primer, which forms a hairpin loop at the end. The other set of primers bind to the displaced strand and extend in a similar manner, resulting in a double-stranded target sequence, one strand containing a dumbbell DNA structure. The loop region is key, as it enables primers to continue to bind without the need to melt the polymerized DNA. Primers bind to the loop regions and expedite amplification to produce an identifiable elongated sequence. If the target sequence is RNA, as are many viral genomes, a reverse transcription step is required before LAMP proceeds, referred to specifically as RT-LAMP. Fluorescent probes can also be incorporated in order to detect multiple targets in real time [50-52].



Fig. 2. Schematic of LAMP: Inner primers bind to the complemenary template region and extend via DNA polymerase. The overhang left behind is then able to form a loop by binding to a complementary region on itself. The outer, strand-displacing primers bump the extended inner primers off the template strand to allow for additional primers to bind and extend. The result is a dumbbell DNA structure, which serves as a template for rapid expansion.

LAMP has several advantages that make it a competitive candidate for PoC nucleic acid diagnostics. LAMP is particularly known for its speed, a priority for PoC settings where results need to be delivered to the patient immediately on-site. In 2019, Nanayakkara et al., demonstrated the ability to reduce a LAMP assay for the detection of MRSA by 15 min by increasing the number of primers from four to six [52]. Also using six primers, Oloniniyi et al. were able to show similar assay times (less than 20 min) for five different ebolaviruses using RT-LAMP [53]. Most recently, there is a reported RT-LAMP assay for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 from Yan et al., that demonstrates detection in 20 min utilizing a six-primer system [54].

In addition to speed, multiple groups have optimized LAMP systems to be equipment-free and more deliverable by eliminating instrumentation via electricity-free LAMP and microfluidics, respectively. In order to maintain the temperature required of a LAMP assay without electricity, Curtis et al. and Song et al. utilized MgFe salts for rapid heating and a phase-change material to hold the temperature steady inside an incubated container [55,56]. Removing the need for electricity allows these diagnostics to leave the clinic and appeal to a greater variety of PoC settings. Microfluidics have the potential to increase portability of these viral diagnostics. For instance, Lin et al. successfully incorporated centrifugation, amplification, detection, and real-time display into a portable device with a built-in fluorescence detector [57]. Similarly, Kaarj et al. developed a paper microfluidic device for Zika virus detection [58]. However, despite this progress in isothermal assays for PoC applications, this work does not offer a complete solution to address the testing needs of a pandemic.

Another consideration when developing a PoC LAMP assay is the signal read-out. Traditionally, RT-PCR can display a real-time signal by employing a Taqman approach. However, an analogous method in LAMP has not been developed. Additionally, intercalators like SYBR measure the amount of double-stranded DNA present in the sample, but are not able to differentiate between specific sequences, preventing the ability to detect multiple targets in one reaction. Probe-based systems have been developed for LAMP but have been shown to inhibit amplification while increasing the complexity of assay design [50,51]. Some have developed read-out methods that have been optimized for PoC settings, but those often require extra steps and add complexity to the overall assay. Lateralflow assays are a common PoC readout method. Typically, this involves using biotin or FITC-labeled primers such that the amplification products are fluorescent. As the amplification products flow along a strip, the biotin or FITC bind to anti-biotin antibodies (or streptavidin) or anti-FITC antibodies respectively at known locations along the strip to allow for visualization within minutes [59,60]. Unfortunately, much like sample preparation, these readouts are often not incorporated into the amplification and require additional steps to transfer the amplification products onto a lateral flow strip. Although this forgoes the need for equipment to visualize the diagnosis, the extra steps decrease user-friendliness due to the increased complexity. Colorimetric readouts tend to be possible without needing an extra transfer step, as in many lateral-flow readout assays. However, colorimetric readouts are often designed to detect a non-specific amplification product, like double-stranded DNA. For example, Ma et al. developed a LAMP system that utilizes hydroxy naphthol blue (HNB) dye to provide visual detection of the amplified DNA, independent of sequence [61]. Colorimetric methods, although less complex than nonintegrated lateral-flow readout systems, are often limited by the lack of ability to detect multiple targets in one reaction.

Although LAMP has shown potential for PoC diagnostics due to recent developments with speed and electricity-free systems, there remains some room for improvement when it comes to sample integration for microfluidics and PoC friendly signal read-outs. An additional disadvantage of LAMP is that increasing the amount of primers increases the false positive rate [62,63]. Thus, further investigation into the assay is required before primer design can be optimized. Another major downside of the LAMP assay specifically is its intricate design scheme, especially when six primers are required to increase the speed of the assay. This complexity makes LAMP assays difficult to optimize. Due to the nature of a pandemic, rapid assay development is crucial in mitigating the impact of the virus.

4.1.2. Reverse transcription recombinase polymerase amplification (RT-RPA)

RPA is another isothermal amplification scheme with potential for PoC diagnostics. Primer-recombinase complexes form and exchange with the target DNA (Fig. 3). The primer is inserted with loop stabilization from single-stranded binding proteins, avoiding the need for thermal melting and high temperatures. A DNA polymerase then extends the primer along the target sequence, producing a new double-stranded DNA amplicon, ready for another cycle of duplication. RPA operates at approximately 37 °C, for optimal enzyme activity. Similar to RT-LAMP, a reverse transcription step can be performed before the RPA in order to detect RNA targets.

LAMP is well-known for being a rapid assay, especially compared to other isothermal amplification methods, but recently, RPA has become more competitive. One assay, designed for the detection of porcine delta coronavirus, required only a 20-min amplification step, comparable to LAMP [64]. More recently, Ma et al. developed an RPA assay for the detection of an influenza A virus (H7N9) that also only required a 20-min amplification step [65]. However, as with LAMP, these assay times do not include



Fig. 3. Schematic of RPA: (a) primer-recombinase complexes are inserted into complementary regions of the template sequence, stabilized by single-stranded binding proteins. (b) DNA polymerase extends the inserted primers, (c) producing a double-stranded product. New primer-recombinase complexes can then be inserted into this product for exponential amplification.

sample preparation (extraction and isolation) or transfer to a lateral flow assay for visual read-out.

RPA operates between 37 °C and 42 °C, significantly lower than LAMP, which tends to be closer to 65 °C. Due to this low operating temperature, equipment-free systems like one from Crannell et al. have been developed that only utilize body heat to raise the reaction temperature [66]. Reducing the equipment required removes some of the overall assay complexity, appealing to PoC settings. This advancement also removes the time required for a pre-heat step that would normally be necessary with a traditional heat block or water bath.

Again, like LAMP, RPA assays for PoC settings require a method to read the signal either during or after the amplification. A similar concern regarding readout arises with RPA as it does with LAMP. Some groups have developed read-out methods that have been optimized for PoC settings, like lateral flow assays, but often require manual transfer of amplification product to flow strip [64,67,68]. Some isothermal assays have opted to use visual dye as a marker for amplification to avoid transferring to a lateral flow strip. Although more user-friendly, these dyes, like HNB dye [61] that detects Mg²⁺ as a product of DNA polymerization, do not allow for single pot multiplexing, limiting the device's overall impact. Alternatively, numerous groups have leveraged CRISPR methods for postamplification readouts [69]. For example, Huang et al. has developed a CRISPR/Cas12 system to read out the signal from an RPA reaction to detect SARS-CoV-2 [70]. After amplification Cas12 is led to specific regions of the amplified product via guide RNA. A signal is generated when Cas12 cleaves and separates a probe and quencher duo. A CRISPR system would allow for more specific recognition of targets and for multiple targets to be detected in a single reaction. Though these read-out methodologies are clever and simple, they require additional steps by the user, and thus do not meet the sample-to-answer requirement of the large-scale testing centers utilized in a pandemic.

As with LAMP, RPA requires an initial reverse transcriptase step to detect RNA-based viruses, which can sometimes double the overall assay time. There is a greater abundance of literature regarding LAMP compared to RPA as a PoC detection scheme for viral diagnostics. This suggests less resources to optimize RPA, which could slow down assay development. As previously mentioned, time to assay development is high priority when working amidst a pandemic. Due to this, RPA may not be an ideal choice for rapid isothermal amplification development.

In this section we have focused on LAMP and RPA, two wellstudied isothermal amplification methods that have been popular both in the literature and for commercial development for PoC infectious disease diagnostics, especially COVID-19. However, there are several additional, less utilized isothermal amplification techniques that could circumvent some of the challenges presented by LAMP and RPA, particularly for viral RNA detection. For example, one understudied method is Exponential Amplification Reaction (EXPAR), which involves a symmetric template where sequences complementary to the target flank the recognition site of a nicking enzyme [71]. Upon binding and extension of the target, a target analog is created and released upon nicking. This newly released analog can then bind to another template and continue the amplification reaction. EXPAR is a simple technique that can be quickly designed, however it tends to have high nonspecific background signals [72]. Another technique, Nucleic Acid Sequence-Based Amplification (NASBA), mimics the in vivo retroviral replication of an RNA template by using three enzymes and two primers to achieve exponential product generation. NASBA detects RNA targets with high sensitivity [73], but it has been reported that for specific diseases, NASBA does not provide the necessary specificity [74]. A third amplification scheme. Hybridization Chain Reaction (HCR), operates by the target-triggered assembly of DNA monomers into a nicked double helix [75]. Its primary advantage is that it is enzyme-free, thus decreasing the cost and increasing the stability of the assay. However, the thermodynamics of the reaction are notoriously difficult to balance, thus leading to high false positive rates. There has been little effort in the literature to utilize some of these less explored isothermal amplification techniques for COVID-19, but given the imperfections of LAMP and RPA, it is worthwhile for the research community to continue to push forward on alternatives.

4.2. Viral protein detection

Another subset of viral infection diagnostics is viral protein detection via immunoassay. As with molecular amplification, immunoassays present their own set of challenges when transitioning to PoC settings. Traditionally, immunoassays utilize a linear amplification scheme with no positive feedback to label the immuno-detection of a biomarker at a surface. Immunoassays appeal to PoC settings since they tend to operate at ambient temperatures and because there is no RNA purification step required as in molecular amplification. However, there are often multiple precise steps involved, including wash steps that add to both the complexity and duration of the assay. An amplification step is unnecessary as each enzyme, held at the surface due to the presence of a biomarker, can act upon a high number of substrate molecules. As a result, the signal amplification is linear, where for every bound viral protein, there is a directly proportional number of chromophores to generate a signal. However, because the amplification is not exponential, limits of detection usually fall in the picomolar range. Further steps have been taken to adapt traditional immunoassays to be better suited for PoC.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) are considered the gold-standard for protein detection in clinical diagnosis. However, their long assay times and hands-on interventions tend to keep ELISAs away from PoC settings. Recently, Kamilla et al. and Li et al. were able to engineer an abbreviated ELISA to detect SARS-CoV [76] and SARS-CoV-2 [77] respectively. Both developed systems to detect the nucleocapsid protein that encapsidates the genetic material of the coronavirus. The wash steps in both assays, generally the time-consuming steps in an ELISA, were shortened to less than 5 min each. This technique resulted in higher limits of detection than traditional ELISAs due to nonspecific binding.

The most common method for PoC viral protein detection is the LFIA because they are deliverable and rapid, which makes them easy to use in the field. LFIAs are generally developed in a dipstick system (Fig. 4) or housed in a cassette, both intended to increase portability. A sandwich assay forms at a specific location on the strip when the biomarker is present, which produces a visible line. Brangel et al. has developed a serological PoC diagnostic strip for the detection of ebolavirus antibodies [78]. The test was designed alongside a smartphone application to aid with tracking the spread of the virus during the Ebola epidemic in 2018. Hwang et al. developed a lateral flow biosensor for the detection of Tamifluresistant influenza virus, specifically the mutated neuraminidase on the surface of the virus [79]. Both assays reduce the time even further from the abbreviated ELISA. Additionally, as there are no washing steps required, the manual steps are also greatly reduced.

An alternative to the LFIA is a pipetting-based immunoassay. Noh et al. developed a pipetting-based immunoassay for the detection of the nucleoprotein on the influenza A virus [80]. They engineered a removable magnetic pipette tip that allowed them to purify magnetic beads that had captured an antibody-targeted protein specific to influenza A. They were able to isolate this complex and use enzymatic color development to detect the presence of the virus. Noh suggests one benefit over the LFIA is that they were able to achieve lower limits of detection. However, a downside to this detection method is the multiple manual pipetting steps requiring a certain degree of expertise to consistently perform. This aspect decreases the user-friendliness and increases the complexity, suggesting a pipetting-based immunoassay may not be suitable for a PoC setting, especially when sample-to-answer capability is required.



Fig. 4. LFIA dipstick system: The dipstick is dipped in sample containing viral particles. As the sample flows along the dipstick, the virus particles bind to labeled antibodies. As these virus-antibody complexes continue to flow along the dipstick, they form a sandwich at the test line when the virus particles bind to a capturing antibody. Labeling antibodies without a bound virus will bind to antibodies at a different location, thus a negative sample will result in a visible line at the control line, whereas a positive sample will result in visible lines at both the control line.

Without the implementation of amplification into these immunoassays for viral protein detection, it is difficult to reach the necessary limits of detection for early diagnosis. The gold standard for nucleic acid detection, RT-PCR, is known to be capable of detecting down to one copy of viral RNA [81]. Several of the aforementioned isothermal amplification methods have shown limits of detection in the tens of copies [61,82]. The gold standard for viral protein detection is an ELISA, which tends to reach detection limits in the picomolar range [83,84]. Assuming average protein size and average ELISA volumes, this suggests a detection limit on the order of 10^7 protein molecules. Of course, there is some degree of amplification as there are generally many copies of a protein per virus, which could bring the detection limit closer to 10^4 - 10^5 viruses.

4.3. Serological testing

Alternatively, another subset of viral diagnostic development is in serological tests for the detection of antibodies. These tests differ from the methods previously discussed as the presence of antibodies indicates a past infection rather than an ongoing one. These tests identify patients who have been infected for about two weeks, which is too late to limit the spread of the virus through contact tracing. However, tracking exposure and infection rates is still useful to slowing the spread of the disease during a pandemic. Similar to the nucleic acid and protein tests described above, there remains a challenge to transition serological tests to a PoC setting. As with viral protein detection, ELISAs are the gold standard for detecting antibodies, but long assay times and precise hands-on steps remain an obstacle for evolving to a PoC method. Fatima et al. has designed an assay to detect SARS-CoV-2 seroconversion, following the traditional steps of an ELISA [85]. This protocol was a major component of the first serological test to get an EUA from the US FDA. The authorization was issued to Mount Sinai Laboratory in April 2020. Although establishing this gold standard to be performed in clinical laboratories is important, there remains a need for a PoC option.

Serological tests designed for PoC settings have been developed for other viruses. The work of Chin et al. in 2010 stands out because of its emphasis on usability and mass production, both of which had been rare in the PoC literature at the time. The authors demonstrated the integration of the multistep assay into a sample-toanswer device by pre-loading all reagents into a tube connected to the plastic microfluidic device, which was used to test patient samples in a PoC setting [86]. With their "mChip," they showed high sensitivity and specificity for HIV testing in remote settings when they evaluated their immunoassay in Rwanda with 70 local samples.

While the mChip had been the standard bearer in the literature for some time, the urgency of the COVID-19 pandemic has spurred a number of new serological tests. Dozens of serological tests have received an EUA since the original ELISA from Mount Sinai Laboratory. One of these tests is from Abbott Laboratories, which has developed a chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay for qualitatively determining the presence of IgG antibodies against the SARS-CoV-2 nucleocapsid protein [87]. Although this system has sensitivity comparable to an ELISA, the assay only works with serum. Thus, extra sample preparation of the whole blood sample is required before the test can be performed. Roche Diagnostics has developed an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay, receiving an EUA due to its competitive sensitivity (99%) and not requiring serum to perform the assay [88]. This assay operates at high sensitivity with a whole blood sample. DiaSorin Inc. has also developed a chemiluminescent assay receiving an EUA for COVID-19 [89]. Additionally, this system is semi-quantitative, providing ranges of possible antibody concentrations, even prompting a sample to be re-assessed if the antibody concentration is measured near the cut-off for positive diagnosis. Although these assays have achieved the sensitivity of a traditional ELISA, none have received the CLIA-distinction for being appropriate for a PoC setting. This is largely due to the current necessity for additional equipment to read the fluorescence or luminescence of the samples.

In order to circumvent the requirement of expensive equipment. many assays that received an EUA from the US FDA opted to develop LFIAs. Most of these LFIAs operate similarly. For example, Xiamen Biotime has developed a traditional LFIA, able to detect both IgG and IgM against SARS-CoV-2 in a single assay, with results available in less than 20 min [90]. Even though there is currently an excess of LFIAs receiving EUAs, only one assay, from Assure Tech, has received the distinction of a CLIA-waiver, authorizing its use in PoC settings. This distinction appears to be somewhat due to the integration of sample collection with the workflow of the assay [91]. Several of the LFIAs receiving EUAs are lacking the PoC authorization for this specific reason. This concept brings up a final, crucial downside of the use of a serological test. The use of blood as the medium for serological tests can increase the complexity of sample collection, sometimes even to the point of requiring a technician. In fact, at the time of submission, about 50 serological tests have received EAU from the FDA; the vast majority use serum (not whole blood) as the sample, while those that use blood cannot be used with a finger prick [92].

5. Sample preparation is the key challenge

Much of the literature discussed in Section 4 focuses on transitioning from traditional thermal-cycled RT-PCR to isothermal approaches, under the assumption that isothermal methods may enable simple instrumentation and/or devices, speeding up time to result and enabling PoC use. In reality, even with a successful isothermal method, the need for precise intervention steps during sample preparation prevents most diagnostic methods from qualifying as PoC. For nucleic acid amplification tests, the preparation steps include the lysis of the virus capsid (often with chemical agents that inhibit PCR), the immobilization of the genome, the removal of PCR inhibitors (generally with alcohol to rinse away inhibitors but not the nucleic acids), and the elution of the purified genome into the assay (Fig. 5a). Commercially available kits (including Qiagen's QIAmp DNA/RNA purification kit, NucliSens isolation kit, and the Puregene DNA isolation kit [93]) enable relatively rapid sample preparation, but are not useable at the PoC. There has been work to utilize sophisticated microfluidic chips that include all of the steps, including bead- or membrane-based RNA capture, alcohol rinses, and elution into an on-chip reaction chamber [94], but replacing the manual reagent exchanges by microvalves and external pumps results in cost-prohibitive chips and bulky setups.

There have been many efforts to reduce the number of steps required in viral sample preparation (e.g., Fig. 5b). For instance, Zhang et al., were able to integrate the lysis step by using ultrasound to rapidly (<1 min) extract nucleic acids on chip without using PCR inhibitors [95]. Likewise, Heiniger et al. showed that by using Achromopeptidase, a proteolytic enzyme for the lysis step, the clean-up step before amplification could be eliminated (but this method requires a high temperature heat-kill, and thus is best matched with RT-PCR, not isothermal methods) [96]. The nucleic acid isolation step has also been automated several different ways to appeal to PoC settings. Neto et al. used magnetic beads to bind and subsequently pull viral RNA through an immiscible phase filter (thus eliminating alcohol rinse steps), using an automated magnet [97]. Similarly, Cui et al. were able to drag capture beads through oil

Analytica Chimica Acta 1146 (2021) 184-199



Fig. 5. Sample preparation steps: In conventional sample preparation, (A) a viral sample is preparared by first chemically lysing the virus to expose the RNA. The RNA is then captured and isolated before being added to an amplification reaction. This traditional process is lengthy and requires several manual steps. Alternatively, (B) clever approaches have used alternative nucleic acid capture methods to eliminate rinse steps. (C) Some have experimented with non-chemical lysis to avoid adding amplification inhibitors that require clean-up. However, these methods still need to be further proven.

to an aqueous phase, where the beads could be removed, free of the lysis components [98].

Alternatively, Hagan et al. used a charge-switching method to eliminate the need for the alcohol rinses [99]. In this approach, chitosan — a biopolymer that is positively charged below pH 6.5 and neutral above pH 6.5 — is grafted onto a microchannel surface. The lysate passes through the channel in low-pH buffer, causing the negatively charged DNA to be captured by the positively charged chitosan. Then the elution buffer (at a higher pH) is passed through the channel; the neutralization of the chitosan causes the DNA to be released into the RT-PCR reaction.

In another clever approach, Ferguson et al. developed an onchip method that bypasses the challenge of extracting nucleic acids altogether [100]. In their approach, following the lysis step, the viral nucleocapsid protein is captured via immunomagnetic beads; the RNA is bound to the nucleocapsid protein, and thus it is pulled out of lysis buffer by the beads [100]. The protein and RNA, now bound to magnetic beads, are then loaded into a chip and amplified via RT-PCR.

Given that microfluidic chips can be costly and can require bulky instrumentation, some have aimed to eliminate chips altogether by performing all sample preparation on paper or similar membranes. Rodriguez et al. were able to remove the need for instrumentation by using a paper-based method of sample preparation, thus suggesting a lower cost solution [60]. A lysed virus sample is pipetted onto the paper membrane before two wash steps on the surface. The nucleic acid amplification also occurs directly on the paper. Although this method eliminates the need for a chip, several precise pipetting steps are required, implying that it may not be useable for PoC. Similarly, Ye et al. were also able to show that sample preparation could be done on paper, with only 5 min required for sample preparation, and without the need for alcohol rinses [101]. However, the prepared sample then had to be cut from the membrane and inserted into a standard well plate or tube array for RT-PCR amplification.

While the need for lysis and RNA purification is the standard, some have experimented with skipping RNA purification and using heatbased lysis, which does not introduce inhibitors to the amplification reaction (Fig. 5c) [102,103]. In a report by Priye et al., the authors claim that the temperature for the LAMP reaction is sufficient to lyse virus particles and that RT-LAMP can proceed without any purification. However, this work used cultures instead of clinical samples and did not confirm the absence of free RNA in the samples. Yang et al. did not include specified steps to extract the nucleic acid but did place the sample in an undisclosed "sample solution" at high heat to lyse the virus particles, then purified the sample through centrifugation by adding only the supernatant to an amplification reaction. If in fact RT-LAMP can be carried out directly on clinical samples with no chemical lysis or DNA purification, this would provide a much easier pathway to develop low-cost solutions for sample-to-answer PoC viral diagnostics. If heat is not sufficient alone, perhaps ultrasonic lysis can aid in releasing RNA without the need for binding/washing. Regardless, it is clear that more research is necessary to confirm that a lyseto-amplify design is possible for clinical samples.

Much of the work summarized in this section has demonstrated a reduction in the overall number of sample preparation steps. However, all of these methods still required either hands-on interventions or instruments. Thus, while intriguing, they have not completely addressed the necessary requirements to combat pandemics. To truly meet the requirements, the approaches should be inexpensive (and thus mass-producible) while also not requiring any user intervention to get from the initial clinical sample to the amplification result (i.e., sample-to-answer).

6. Fully integrated systems are necessary for sample-toanswer

As previously discussed, in order to be most suitable for a PoC setting, diagnostics need to integrate sample preparation with amplification and signal readout. In moving toward a fully integrated system, Ferguson et al. and Cao et al. combined target capture, concentration, purification, and RT-PCR all on-chip to detect H1N1 [100,104]. Ferguson et al. implemented a device in which reagents flow in and out automatically, while the target remains attached to magnetic beads, decreasing the amount of manual operational steps. Cao et al. used solid phase extraction to concentrate and purify the samples, using pumps to move the sample to different locations on the chip. Alternatively, Hagan et al. leveraged integrating the charge switching method with on-chip RT-PCR to demonstrate the detection of influenza A [99]. Finally, Shen et al. were able to produce a true sample-to-answer system with full integration on a PDMS chip to detect influenza A [94]. However, these methods do not completely satisfy the needs of STARLITE or even typical PoC settings. Some still required manual intervention, such as off-chip lysis and reagent transfer [100,104]. Others required pumps with either manual tubing exchanges or costly microfluidic valves [94,99,104].

An ideal sample-to-answer system uses a low-cost chip, requires no interventions by the user, and utilizes a small and portable instrument. One method that appears to satisfy this list of requirements is the spinning disk technology in which reagent release and manipulation is carried out using centrifugal forces within a disk-shaped microfluidic device. The device is generally made with plastic using injection molding or similar low-cost high throughput methods. One example of sample-to-answer virus identification has been reported in the literature using this approach. Stumpf et al. were able to demonstrate sample-toanswer capability with their PoC diagnostic for the detection of influenza A [105]. They used a spinning disk to move reagents and beads around the chip and were able to perform lysis, extraction, and PCR all on the disk without need for intervention. Jung et al. also used the spinning disk technology to automate most steps but performed lysis off chip [106]. The spinning disk technology appears to be promising, as it satisfies the sample-to-answer requirement with a low-cost chip, but it is not yet clear that the instrument (essentially a disk player that can operate at multiple speeds and has integrated optics) can process a high number of samples asynchronously, which we believe is a requirement to address the high-testing-volume needs of a pandemic. Sample preparation methods discussed in Sections 5 and 6 are summarized in Table 5.

7. Outlook and recommendations

In response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, researchers worldwide have worked to adapt existing technologies for viral disease diagnostics to detect SARS-CoV-2. With regards to the nucleic acid amplification test, it is apparent that the research community prefers LAMP and RPA over RT-PCR. However, LAMP and RPA are known to be less robust than PCR, and are more vulnerable to false positives, making the design of new assays for emerging pathogens challenging. In particular, if multiple targets need to be detected in a single reaction, the use of LAMP and RPA present challenges due to the variability of optimal reaction conditions for different targets. It is noteworthy that although the literature does not favor the SDA reaction, the Abbott ID NOW system has utilized a form of this reaction [41] to deliver rapid results (although it has been demonstrated that the ID NOW had a high false negative rate for COVID-19 [45–47], this was likely related to the mismatch of the sample interface with established sample handling procedures of testing labs). Researchers may benefit by investigating the use of SDA in their integrated PoC prototypes.

While continuing to investigate isothermal methods is of value, the largest gap to address the testing needs of a pandemic exists in sample preparation. We summarized the progress in reducing the number of necessary steps to transition from a clinical sample to the amplification reaction. For the most part, however, results in the literature feature cost-prohibitive microfluidic technology or user interventions that are incompatible with use in the field at high-volume patient test sites. Nonetheless, several valuable insights can be drawn. First, avoiding chemical lysis and traditional solid phase extraction, which require the use of nucleic acid amplification inhibitors, can lead to simplified chip or cartridge designs. Further investigation of heat and ultrasonic lysis is thus recommended. Coupled with this is the need to investigate the inhibition of nucleic acid amplification in clinical samples. For example, it is known that Tag is inhibited by heme [107] while Bst is not [108–116], and thus LAMP (which uses Bst) is more compatible with blood samples than PCR.

It is conceivable that lysis and DNA purification will continue to be a challenge for researchers. On the other hand, as immunoassays directed toward the outer surface of the virus do not require lysis or purification, it may be tempting to pursue amplified immunoassays, such as immunoPCR [117]. However, traditional immunoassays require several washes, and immunoPCR increases this burden further, suggesting that deployment at the PoC may not be realistic. Alternatively, LFIAs have shown promise for performing immunoassays with minimal interventions. One potential method to increase the detection performance for LFIAs for viral detection would be to employ gold-nanoparticle-labeled detection antibodies with silver amplification, as has been demonstrated in other formats [118,119].

Additionally, further work on instrumentation and signal readout methods is recommended. As discussed above, while there are commercially available PoC tests for respiratory diseases, the costly instruments only test one sample at a time, and thus are not appropriate for high-volume patient testing in the field. Likewise, while the spinning disk microfluidic technology is promising, an instrument that can process multiple disks at the same time with random access to the instrument is needed. In addition to considering how the instrument interfaces with the chip or cartridge, we also recommend considering how the instrument connects with the user. An ideal solution would include a wireless connection with mobile devices used by the tester, such that information collected from the patient (e.g., scan of identification card and contact information) can be electronically tied to the sample result and immediately delivered to public health officials for contact tracing purposes.

Finally, we recommend that researchers consider designing their chips or cartridges to interface directly with either swabs or saliva. While swabs have been considered the standard for respiratory viruses, saliva has advantages. It avoids the risk of supply shortages, which have been persistent during the COVID-19 pandemic. Even more importantly, using saliva enables a simple and robust sample collection method that can be performed Summary of sample preparation methods.

Method	# manual steps saved	Equipment required	Low cost per test	Sample-to-answer	Reference
Commercial kits	Reference point	Y	Y	N	[93]
Ultrasound lysis	4	Y	N	Ν	[95]
Proteolytic lysis	4	N	Y	Ν	[96]
Immiscible phase filter	1	N	Y	Ν	[97]
	1	N	Y	Ν	[98]
Charge switching	2	N	Y	N	[99]
Paper-based	1	Ν	Y	Ν	[60]
Pipetting-based	2	N	У	Ν	[101]
Pump-valve driven	5	Y	N	Ν	[94]
	4	Y	N	Ν	[104]
Centrifuge driven	5	Y	Y	Y	[105]
	5	Y	Y	Y	[106]

independently by the user and dramatically reduces the probability of infecting the tester. To date, encouraging results have been achieved in detecting the presence of SARS-CoV-2 in patient saliva samples [120,121]. However, while some PCR tests have been developed for saliva, all of the available antigen tests utilize swabs, and the available serological tests use blood or serum.

8. Conclusions

After reviewing our response to the last 100 years of pandemics, including the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we can conclude that we remain unprepared to address the testing needs of the next global pandemic. Although central laboratory tests have improved, attempts to bring RT-PCR to a PoC setting have been slow. Current approved systems have shown progress in bringing diagnostics closer to the patient, but these systems do not have the low per-test cost or throughput needed to deliver massive testing in the field to respond to a pandemic. Research on isothermal amplification methods, especially LAMP and RPA, has eliminated the need for equipment typically required for temperature control in PCR. However, these methods are imperfect, as they tend to involve months of assay development and are challenging to multiplex. Even with the ideal isothermal assay methodology, sample preparation remains a substantial hurdle due to the number of required steps. While clever and sophisticated methods have emerged, it is vital to ensure that in integrating sample preparation with virus detection, the diagnostic does not become unsuitable for PoC by increasing in cost or by failing to eliminate manual intervention steps. Detecting the viral protein in a LFIA, rather than the viral genome, eliminates many of the sample preparation steps required for RNA detection; however, the development of antigen tests is orders of magnitude slower than the development of nucleic acid tests. In addition to the guidelines already required by the WHO and FDA, we propose the emphasis of specific PoC diagnostic test recommendations (STARLITE) to address the massive testing needs during a pandemic: Sample-To-Answer, Rapid, Local, Inexpensive, Throughput, and Equipment-free. The recent worldwide outbreak of the SARS-CoV-2 virus demonstrated that, despite progress regarding central laboratory diagnostics, a PoC solution capable of large-scale deployment and rapid results has not been achieved. As we prepare to combat the next pandemic, we believe that incorporating our recommendations into the development of rapidly mobilizable PoC testing infrastructure will be crucial to protecting our world.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Stephen Restaino, Imaly Nanayakkara, and Alessandra Zimmermann for creation of the initial versions of some of the schematics presented in this work. Micaela Everitt is supported by the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2020.10.009.

References

- J.J. Middleton, The value of quarantine in communicable disease, The Public Health Journal 13 (1922) 547–552.
- [2] K.O. Kwok, A. Tang, V.W.I. Wei, W.H. Park, E.K. Yeoh, S. Riley, Epidemic models of contact tracing: systematic review of transmission studies of Severe Acute respiratory Syndrome and Middle East respiratory Syndrome, Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J. 17 (2019) 186–194, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.csbj.2019.01.003.
- [3] Q. Bi, Y. Wu, S. Mei, C. Ye, X. Zou, Z. Zhang, X. Liu, L. Wei, S.A. Truelove, T. Zhang, W. Gao, C. Cheng, X. Tang, X. Wu, Y. Wu, B. Sun, S. Huang, Y. Sun, J. Zhang, T. Ma, J. Lessler, T. Feng, Epidemiology and transmission of COVID-19 in 391 cases and 1286 of their close contacts in Shenzhen, China: a retrospective cohort study, Lancet Infect. Dis. 20 (2020) 911–919, https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30287-5. S1473309920302875.
- [4] J.M. Hyman, J. Li, E.A. Stanley, Modeling the impact of random screening and contact tracing in reducing the spread of HIV q, Math. Biosci. (2003) 38.
- [5] N. Qualls, A. Levitt, N. Kanade, Community mitigation guidelines to prevent pandemic influenza - United States, 2017, MMWR Recomm. Rep. (Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.) 66 (2017) 1–34.
- [6] N. Madhav, B. Oppenheim, M. Gallivan, P. Mulembakani, E. Rubin, N. Wolfe, Pandemics: Risks, Impacts, and Mitigation, third ed., World Bank Group, 2018.
- [7] H. Kettler, K. White, S. Hawkes, Mapping the Landscape of Diagnostics for Sexually Transmitted Infections, World Health Organization, 2004.
- [8] K.J. Land, D.I. Boeras, X.-S. Chen, A.R. Ramsay, R.W. Peeling, REASSURED diagnostics to inform disease control strategies, strengthen health systems and improve patient outcomes, Nature Microbiology 4 (2019) 46–54, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0295-3.
- [9] Recommendations: Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA) Waiver Applications for Manufacturers of in Vitro Diagnostic Devices, US Department of Health and Human Services, 2008.
- [10] K.T. Kwon, J.-H. Ko, H. Shin, M. Sung, J.Y. Kim, Drive-through screening center for COVID-19: a safe and efficient screening system against massive community outbreak, J. Kor. Med. Sci. 35 (2020) e123, https://doi.org/10.3346/ jkms.2020.35.e123.
- [11] D.K.M. Ip, L.L.H. Lau, N.H.L. Leung, V.J. Fang, K.-H. Chan, D.K.W. Chu, G.M. Leung, J.S.M. Peiris, T.M. Uyeki, B.J. Cowling, Viral shedding and transmission potential of asymptomatic and pauci-symptomatic influenza virus infections in the community, CLINID (2016) ciw841, https://doi.org/10.1093/ cid/ciw841.
- [12] E.D. Kilbourne, Influenza pandemics of the 20th century, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 12 (2006) 9–14, https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1201.051254.
- [13] 1918 Pandemic (H1N1 Virus) | Pandemic Influenza (Flu), CDC, 2020. https:// www.cdc.gov/flu/pandemic-resources/1918-pandemic-h1n1.html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [14] 1957-1958 Pandemic (H2N2 Virus) | Pandemic Influenza (Flu), CDC, 2019.

https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pandemic-resources/1957-1958-pandemic.html. accessed July 2, 2020.

- [15] G.C. Schild, M. Henry-Aymard, M.S. Pere, P. Chakraverty, W. Dowdle, Antigenic Variation in Current Human Type A Influenzaviruses: Antigenic Characteristics of the Variants and Their Geographic Distribution, (n.d.) 10.
- [16] CDC, 2009 H1N1 Pandemic, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pandemic-resources/2009-h1n1-pandemic. html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [17] A.J. Kucharski, W.J. Edmunds, Case fatality rate for Ebola virus disease in west Africa, Lancet 384 (2014) 1260, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14) 61706-2.
- [18] Ebola (Ebola Virus Disease), CDC, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/vhf/ebola/ index.html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [19] X. Li, J. Zai, H. Liu, Y. Feng, F. Li, J. Wei, S. Zou, Z. Yuan, Y. Shao, The 2014 Ebola virus outbreak in West Africa highlights no evidence of rapid evolution or adaptation to humans, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 35822, https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep35822.
- [20] G. Chowell, C. Castillo-Chavez, P.W. Fenimore, C.M. Kribs-Zaleta, L. Arriola, J.M. Hyman, Model parameters and outbreak control for SARS, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10 (2004) 1258–1263, https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1007.030647.
- [21] SARS | Basics Factsheet, CDC, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/sars/about/fs-sars. html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [22] WHO, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS), WHO, (n.d.), https:// www.who.int/csr/sars/en/. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [23] Chinese Bats Likely Source of SARS-CoV Virus, Researchers Report Fogarty International Center @ NIH, Fogarty International Center (n.d.), https://www. fic.nih.gov:443/News/GlobalHealthMatters/september-october-2013/Pages/ sars-bat-human-transmission.aspx. report, accessed July 2, 2020.
- [24] CDC, Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/index.html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [25] COVID-19 Map, Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center (n.d.), https:// coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html. accessed July 2, 2020.
- [26] Y. Yan, L. Chang, L. Wang, Laboratory testing of SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2 (2019-nCoV): current status, challenges, and countermeasures, Rev. Med. Virol. 30 (2020), e2106, https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.2106.
- [27] J. Xu, S. Zhao, T. Teng, A.E. Abdalla, W. Zhu, L. Xie, Y. Wang, X. Guo, Systematic comparison of two animal-to-human transmitted human coronaviruses: SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV, Viruses 12 (2020) 244, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/v12020244.
- [28] M.A. DiMaio, M.K. Sahoo, J. Waggoner, B.A. Pinsky, Comparison of Xpert Flu rapid nucleic acid testing with rapid antigen testing for the diagnosis of influenza A and B, J. Virol Methods 186 (2012) 137–140, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jviromet.2012.07.023.
- [29] A.E. Semper, M.J. Broadhurst, J. Richards, G.M. Foster, A.J.H. Simpson, C.H. Logue, J.D. Kelly, A. Miller, T.J.G. Brooks, M. Murray, N.R. Pollock, Performance of the GeneXpert Ebola assay for diagnosis of Ebola virus disease in Sierra Leone: a field evaluation study, PLoS Med. 13 (2016), e1001980, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001980.
- [30] D.M. Cohen, J. Kline, L.S. May, G.E. Harnett, J. Gibson, S.Y. Liang, Z. Rafique, C.A. Rodriguez, K.M. McGann, C.A. Gaydos, D. Mayne, D. Phillips, J. Cohen, Accurate PCR detection of influenza A/B and respiratory syncytial viruses by use of Cepheid xpert Flu+RSV xpress assay in point-of-care settings: comparison to prodesse ProFlu+, J. Clin. Microbiol. 56 (2017) https://doi.org/ 10.1128/JCM.01237-17 e01237-17.
- [31] T. Valentin, P. Kieslinger, E. Stelzl, B.I. Santner, A. Groselj-Strele, H.H. Kessler, B. Tiran, Prospective evaluation of three rapid molecular tests for seasonal influenza in patients presenting at an emergency unit, J. Clin. Virol. 111 (2019) 29–32, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2019.01.003.
- [32] S. Young, P. Illescas, J. Nicasio, J.J. Sickler, Diagnostic accuracy of the real-time PCR cobas @ Liat @ Influenza A/B assay and the Alere i Influenza A&B NEAR isothermal nucleic acid amplification assay for the detection of influenza using adult nasopharyngeal specimens, J. Clin. Virol. 94 (2017) 86–90, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2017.07.012.
- [33] F.S. Nolte, L. Gauld, S.B. Barrett, Direct comparison of alere i and cobas Liat influenza A and B tests for rapid detection of influenza virus infection, J. Clin. Microbiol. 54 (2016) 2763-2766, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01586-16.
- [34] M.J. Binnicker, M.J. Espy, C.L. Irish, E.A. Vetter, Direct detection of influenza A and B viruses in less than 20 minutes using a commercially available rapid PCR assay, J. Clin. Microbiol. 53 (2015) 2353–2354, https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.00791-15.
- [35] W.J.G. Melchers, J. Kuijpers, J.J. Sickler, J. Rahamat-Langendoen, Lab-in-atube: real-time molecular point-of-care diagnostics for influenza A and B using the cobas® Liat® system, J. Med. Virol. 89 (2017) 1382–1386, https:// doi.org/10.1002/jmv.24796.
- [36] R. Gosert, K. Naegele, H.H. Hirsch, Comparing the Cobas Liat Influenza A/B and respiratory syncytial virus assay with multiplex nucleic acid testing: GOSERT et al, J. Med. Virol. 91 (2019) 582–587, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jmv.25344.
- [37] J. Youngs, Y. Iqbal, S. Glass, P. Riley, C. Pope, T. Planche, D. Carrington, Implementation of the cobas Liat influenza point-of-care test into an emergency department during a high-incidence season: a retrospective evaluation following real-world implementation, J. Hosp. Infect. 101 (2019) 285–288, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.12.008.
- [38] L. Ling, S.E. Kaplan, J.C. Lopez, J. Stiles, X. Lu, Y.-W. Tang, Parallel validation of

three molecular devices for simultaneous detection and identification of influenza A and B and respiratory syncytial viruses, J. Clin. Microbiol. 56 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01691-17 e01691-17, jcm/56/3/e01691-17.atom.

- [39] J.A. Lieberman, G. Pepper, S.N. Naccache, M.-L. Huang, K.R. Jerome, A.L. Greninger, Comparison of commercially available and laboratory developed assays for *in vitro* detection of SARS-CoV-2 in clinical laboratories, J. Clin. Microbiol. 58 (2020) e00821-e20, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00821-20, JCM.00821-20, jcm; JCM.00821-20v1.
- [40] E. Pujadas, N. Ibeh, M.M. Hernandez, A. Waluszko, T. Sidorenko, V. Flores, B. Shiffrin, N. Chiu, A. Young-Francois, M.D. Nowak, A.E. Paniz-Mondolfi, E.M. Sordillo, C. Cordon-Cardo, J. Houldsworth, M.R. Gitman, Comparison of SARS-CoV-2 detection from nasopharyngeal swab samples by the Roche cobas 6800 SARS-CoV-2 test and a laboratory-developed real-time RT-PCR test, J. Med. Virol. 92 (2020) 1695–1698, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25988, jmv.25988.
- [41] Maples, B., Holmberg, R., Miller, A., Provins, J., Roth, R., Mandell, J., "Nicking and extension amplification reaction for the exponential amplification of nucleic acids." U.S. Patent 9,562.263, issued February 7, 2017.
- [42] K. Mitamura, H. Shimizu, M. Yamazaki, M. Ichikawa, T. Abe, Y. Yasumi, Y. Ichikawa, T. Shibata, M. Yoshihara, K. Shiozaki, S. Baba, Y. Kudo, M. Tokushima, Y. Konomi, C. Kawakami, Clinical evaluation of ID NOW influenza A & B 2, a rapid influenza virus detection kit using isothermal nucleic acid amplification technology - a comparison with currently available tests, J. Infect. Chemother. 26 (2020) 216–221, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jiac.2019.08.015.
- [43] N. Kanwar, J. Michael, K. Doran, E. Montgomery, R. Selvarangan, Comparison of the id now influenza A & B 2, cobas influenza A/B, and xpert xpress Flu point-of-care nucleic acid amplification tests for influenza A/B virus detection in children, J. Clin. Microbiol. 58 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.01611-19.
- [44] J. Bell, A. Bonner, D.M. Cohen, R. Birkhahn, R. Yogev, W. Triner, J. Cohen, E. Palavecino, R. Selvarangan, Multicenter clinical evaluation of the novel AlereTM i Influenza A&B isothermal nucleic acid amplification test, J. Clin. Virol. 61 (2014) 81–86, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2014.06.001.
- [45] M.C. Smithgall, I. Scherberkova, S. Whittier, D.A. Green, Comparison of Cepheid xpert xpress and Abbott ID now to Roche cobas for the rapid detection of SARS-CoV-2, J. Clin. Virol. 128 (2020), 104428, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104428.
- [46] A. Basu, T. Zinger, K. Inglima, K. Woo, O. Atie, L. Yurasits, B. See, M.E. Aguero-Rosenfeld, Performance of Abbott ID now COVID-19 rapid nucleic acid amplification test using nasopharyngeal swabs transported in viral transport media and dry nasal swabs in a New York city academic institution, J. Clin. Microbiol. 58 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01136-20 e01136-20, jjcm/ 58/8/JCM.01136-20.atom.
- [47] P.M. Thwe, P. Ren, How many are we missing with ID NOW COVID-19 assay using direct nasopharyngeal swabs? Findings from a mid-sized academic hospital clinical microbiology laboratory, Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 98 (2020), 115123, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2020.115123.
- [48] Y. Sun, J. Deng, Y. Qian, R. Zhu, F. Wang, R. Tian, R. De, L. Zhao, Laboratory evaluation of rapid antigen detection tests for more-sensitive detection of respiratory syncytial virus antigen, Jpn. J. Infect. Dis. 72 (2019) 394–398, https://doi.org/10.7883/yoken.JJID.2018.528.
- [49] T. Notomi, H. Okayama, H. Masubuchi, T. Yonekawa, K. Watanabe, N. Amino, T. Hase, Loop-mediated isothermal amplification of DNA, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) e63.
- [50] N.A. Tanner, Y. Zhang, T.C. Evans, Simultaneous multiple target detection in real-time loop-mediated isothermal amplification, Biotechniques 53 (2012) 81–89, https://doi.org/10.2144/0000113902.
- [51] C.S. Ball, Y.K. Light, C.-Y. Koh, S.S. Wheeler, L.L. Coffey, R.J. Meagher, Quenching of unincorporated amplification signal reporters in reversetranscription loop-mediated isothermal amplification enabling bright, single-step, closed-tube, and multiplexed detection of RNA viruses, Anal. Chem. 88 (2016) 3562–3568, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.analchem.5b04054.
- [52] I.A. Nanayakkara, I.M. White, Demonstration of a quantitative triplex LAMP assay with an improved probe-based readout for the detection of MRSA, Analyst 144 (2019) 3878–3885, https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AN00671K.
- [53] O.K. Oloniniyi, Y. Kurosaki, H. Miyamoto, A. Takada, J. Yasuda, Rapid detection of all known ebolavirus species by reverse transcription-loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP), J. Virol Methods 246 (2017) 8–14, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2017.03.011.
- [54] C. Yan, J. Cui, L. Huang, B. Du, L. Chen, G. Xue, S. Li, W. Zhang, L. Zhao, Y. Sun, H. Yao, N. Li, H. Zhao, Y. Feng, S. Liu, Q. Zhang, D. Liu, J. Yuan, Rapid and visual detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) by a reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 26 (2020) 773–779, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.04.001. S1198743X20301865.
- [55] K.A. Curtis, D.L. Rudolph, D. Morrison, D. Guelig, S. Diesburg, D. McAdams, R.A. Burton, P. LaBarre, M. Owen, Single-use, electricity-free amplification device for detection of HIV-1, J. Virol Methods 237 (2016) 132–137, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.09.007.
- [56] J. Song, M.G. Mauk, B.A. Hackett, S. Cherry, H.H. Bau, C. Liu, Instrument-free point-of-care molecular detection of Zika virus, Anal. Chem. 88 (2016) 7289–7294, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.6b01632.

- [57] X. Lin, X. Jin, B. Xu, R. Wang, R. Fu, Y. Su, K. Jiang, H. Yang, Y. Lu, Y. Guo, G. Huang, Fast and parallel detection of four Ebola virus species on a microfluidic-chip-based portable reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification system, Micromachines 10 (2019) 777, https:// doi.org/10.3390/mi10110777.
- [58] K. Kaarj, P. Akarapipad, J.-Y. Yoon, Simpler, faster, and sensitive Zika virus assay using smartphone detection of loop-mediated isothermal amplification on paper microfluidic chips, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 12438, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-30797-9.
- [59] C. Xu, H. Wang, H. Jin, N. Feng, X. Zheng, Z. Cao, L. Li, J. Wang, F. Yan, L. Wang, H. Chi, W. Gai, C. Wang, Y. Zhao, Y. Feng, T. Wang, Y. Gao, Y. Lu, S. Yang, X. Xia, Visual detection of Ebola virus using reverse transcription loopmediated isothermal amplification combined with nucleic acid strip detection, Arch. Virol. 161 (2016) 1125–1133, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-016-2763-5.
- [60] N.M. Rodriguez, J.C. Linnes, A. Fan, C.K. Ellenson, N.R. Pollock, C.M. Klapperich, Paper-based RNA extraction, *in situ* isothermal amplification, and lateral flow detection for low-cost, rapid diagnosis of influenza A (H1N1) from clinical specimens, Anal. Chem. 87 (2015) 7872–7879, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b01594.
- [61] X. Ma, Y. Shu, K. Nie, M. Qin, D. Wang, R. Gao, M. Wang, L. Wen, F. Han, S. Zhou, X. Zhao, Y. Cheng, D. Li, X. Dong, Visual detection of pandemic influenza A H1N1 Virus 2009 by reverse-transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification with hydroxynaphthol blue dye, J. Virol Methods 167 (2010) 214–217, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.03.027.
- [62] R.J. Meagher, A. Priye, Y.K. Light, C. Huang, E. Wang, Impact of primer dimers and self-amplifying hairpins on reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification detection of viral RNA, Analyst 143 (2018) 1924–1933, https://doi.org/10.1039/c7an01897e.
- [63] N. Kaur, N. Thota, B.J. Toley, A stoichiometric and pseudo kinetic model of loop mediated isothermal amplification, Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J. 18 (2020) 2336–2346, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.08.020.
- [64] L. Ma, F. Zeng, B. Huang, Y. Zhu, M. Wu, F. Xu, L. Xiao, R. Huang, J. Ma, F. Cong, P. Guo, Point-of-care diagnostic assay for rapid detection of porcine deltacoronavirus using the recombinase polymerase amplification method, Transbound Emerg Dis 66 (2019) 1324–1331, https://doi.org/10.1111/ tbed.13155.
- [65] S. Ma, X. Li, B. Peng, W. Wu, X. Wang, H. Liu, L. Yuan, S. Fang, J. Lu, Rapid detection of avian influenza A virus (H7N9) by lateral flow dipstick recombinase polymerase amplification, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 41 (2018) 1804–1808, https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b18-00468.
- [66] Z.A. Crannell, B. Rohrman, R. Richards-Kortum, Equipment-free incubation of recombinase polymerase amplification reactions using body heat, PloS One 9 (2014) e112146, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112146.
- [67] N. Sun, W. Wang, J. Wang, X. Yao, F. Chen, X. Li, Y. Yinglei, B. Chen, Reverse transcription recombinase polymerase amplification with lateral flow dipsticks for detection of influenza A virus and subtyping of H1 and H3, Mol. Cell. Probes 42 (2018) 25–31, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2018.10.004.
- [68] Z. Wang, P. Yang, Y. Zhang, K. Tian, C. Bian, J. Zhao, Development of a reverse transcription recombinase polymerase amplification combined with lateralflow dipstick assay for avian influenza H9N2 HA gene detection, Transbound Emerg Dis 66 (2019) 546–551, https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13063.
- [69] E. Morales-Narváez, C. Dincer, The impact of biosensing in a pandemic outbreak: COVID-19, Biosens. Bioelectron. 163 (2020), 112274, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112274.
- [70] Z. Huang, D. Tian, Y. Liu, Z. Lin, C.J. Lyon, W. Lai, D. Fusco, A. Drouin, X. Yin, T. Hu, B. Ning, Ultra-sensitive and high-throughput CRISPR-p owered COVID-19 diagnosis, Biosens. Bioelectron. 164 (2020), 112316, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bios.2020.112316.
- [71] M.S. Reid, X.C. Le, H. Zhang, Exponential isothermal amplification of nucleic acids and assays for proteins, cells, small molecules, and enzyme activities: an EXPAR example, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 57 (2018) 11856–11866, https:// doi.org/10.1002/anie.201712217.
- [72] L.-P. Ye, J. Hu, L. Liang, C. Zhang, Surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy for simultaneous sensitive detection of multiple microRNAs in lung cancer cells, Chem. Commun. 50 (2014) 11883–11886, https://doi.org/10.1039/ C4CC05598E.
- [73] S.A. Morré, P. Sillekens, M.V. Jacobs, P. van Aarle, S. de Blok, B. van Gemen, J.M. Walboomers, C.J. Meijer, A.J. van den Brule, RNA amplification by nucleic acid sequence-based amplification with an internal standard enables reliable detection of Chlamydia trachomatis in cervical scrapings and urine samples, J. Clin. Microbiol. 34 (1996) 3108–3114, https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.34.12.3108-3114.1996.
- [74] M. Damen, P. Sillekens, M. Sjerps, R. Melsert, I. Frantzen, H.W. Reesink, P.N. Lelie, H.T.M. Cuypers, Stability of hepatitis C virus RNA during specimen handling and storage prior to NASBA amplification, J. Virol Methods 72 (1998) 175–184, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-0934(98)00024-X.
- [75] R.M. Dirks, N.A. Pierce, Triggered amplification by hybridization chain reaction, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 15275–15278, https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0407024101.
- [76] S. Kammila, D. Das, P.K. Bhatnagar, H.H. Sunwoo, G. Zayas-Zamora, M. King, M.R. Suresh, A rapid point of care immunoswab assay for SARS-CoV detection, J. Virol Methods 152 (2008) 77–84, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jviromet.2008.05.023.
- [77] Z. Li, Y. Yi, X. Luo, N. Xiong, Y. Liu, S. Li, R. Sun, Y. Wang, B. Hu, W. Chen,

Y. Zhang, J. Wang, B. Huang, Y. Lin, J. Yang, W. Cai, X. Wang, J. Cheng, Z. Chen, K. Sun, W. Pan, Z. Zhan, L. Chen, F. Ye, Development and clinical application of A rapid IgM-IgG combined antibody test for SARS-CoV-2 infection diagnosis, J. Med. Virol. 92 (2020) 1518–1524, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25727, jmv.25727.

- [78] P. Brangel, A. Sobarzo, C. Parolo, B.S. Miller, P.D. Howes, S. Gelkop, J.J. Lutwama, J.M. Dye, R.A. McKendry, L. Lobel, M.M. Stevens, A serological point-of-care test for the detection of IgG antibodies against Ebola virus in human survivors, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 63–73, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.7b07021.
- [79] S.G. Hwang, K. Ha, K. Guk, D.K. Lee, G. Eom, S. Song, T. Kang, H. Park, J. Jung, E.-K. Lim, Rapid and simple detection of Tamiflu-resistant influenza virus: development of oseltamivir derivative-based lateral flow biosensor for point-of-care (POC) diagnostics, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018), 12999, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-31311-x.
- [80] J.Y. Noh, S.-W. Yoon, Y. Kim, T.V. Lo, M.-J. Ahn, M.-C. Jung, T.B. Le, W. Na, D. Song, V.P. Le, S. Haam, D.G. Jeong, H.K. Kim, Pipetting-based immunoassay for point-of-care testing: application for detection of the influenza A virus, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 16661, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-53083-8.
 [81] G. Lu, J. Zhang, C. Zhang, X. Li, D. Shi, Z. Yang, C. Wang, One-step reverse-
- [81] G. Lu, J. Zhang, C. Zhang, X. Li, D. Shi, Z. Yang, C. Wang, One-step reversetranscription FRET-PCR for differential detection of five ebolavirus species, PloS One 10 (2015), e0126281, https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0126281.
- [82] G.-S. Park, K. Ku, S.-H. Baek, S.-J. Kim, S.I. Kim, B.-T. Kim, J.-S. Maeng, Development of reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) assays targeting SARS-CoV-2, J. Mol. Diagn. 22 (2020) 729–735, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2020.03.006. S1525157820300908.
- [83] S. Guo, T. Lakshmipriya, S.C.B. Gopinath, P. Anbu, Y. Feng, Complementation of ELISA and an interdigitated electrode surface in gold nanoparticle functionalization for effective detection of human blood clotting defects, Nanoscale Res Lett 14 (2019) 222, https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-019-3058-z.
- [84] K.H. Lee, H. Zeng, Aptamer-based ELISA assay for highly specific and sensitive detection of Zika NS1 protein, Anal. Chem. 89 (2017) 12743–12748, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.7b02862.
- [85] F. Amanat, D. Stadlbauer, S. Strohmeier, T.H.O. Nguyen, V. Chromikova, M. McMahon, K. Jiang, G.A. Arunkumar, D. Jurczyszak, J. Polanco, M. Bermudez-Gonzalez, G. Kleiner, T. Aydillo, L. Miorin, D.S. Fierer, L.A. Lugo, E.M. Kojic, J. Stoever, S.T.H. Liu, C. Cunningham-Rundles, P.L. Felgner, T. Moran, A. García-Sastre, D. Caplivski, A.C. Cheng, K. Kedzierska, O. Vapalahti, J.M. Hepojoki, V. Simon, F. Krammer, A serological assay to detect SARS-CoV-2 seroconversion in humans, Nat. Med. 26 (2020) 1033–1036, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0913-5.
- [86] C.D. Chin, T. Laksanasopin, Y.K. Cheung, D. Steinmiller, V. Linder, H. Parsa, J. Wang, H. Moore, R. Rouse, G. Umviligihozo, E. Karita, L. Mwambarangwe, S.L. Braunstein, J. van de Wijgert, R. Sahabo, J.E. Justman, W. El-Sadr, S.K. Sia, Microfluidics-based diagnostics of infectious diseases in the developing world, Nat. Med. 17 (2011) 1015–1019, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2408.
- [87] J. Manalac, J. Yee, K. Calayag, L. Nguyen, P.M. Patel, D. Zhou, R.-Z. Shi, Evaluation of Abbott anti-SARS-CoV-2 CMIA IgG and euroimmun ELISA IgG/IgA assays in a clinical lab, Clin. Chim. Acta 510 (2020) 687–690, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cca.2020.09.002.
- [88] M. Kovač, L. Risch, S. Thiel, M. Weber, K. Grossmann, N. Wohlwend, T. Lung, D. Hillmann, M. Ritzler, S. Bigler, F. Ferrara, T. Bodmer, K. Egli, M. Imperiali, S. Heer, Y. Salimi, H. Renz, P. Kohler, P. Vernazza, C.R. Kahlert, M. Paprotny, M. Risch, EDTA-anticoagulated whole blood for SARS-CoV-2 antibody testing by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), Diagnostics 10 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.3390/diagnostics10080593.
- [89] M. Tré-Hardy, A. Wilmet, I. Beukinga, J.-M. Dogné, J. Douxfils, L. Blairon, Validation of a chemiluminescent assay for specific SARS-CoV-2 antibody, Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. 58 (2020) 1357–1364, https://doi.org/10.1515/cclm-2020-0594.
- [90] A. Jääskeläinen, S. Kuivanen, E. Kekäläinen, M. Ahava, R. Loginov, H. Kallio-Kokko, O. Vapalahti, H. Jarva, S. Kurkela, M. Lappalainen, Performance of six SARS-CoV-2 immunoassays in comparison with microneutralisation, J. Clin. Virol. 129 (2020), 104512, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104512.
- [91] N. Kohmer, S. Westhaus, C. Rühl, S. Ciesek, H.F. Rabenau, Clinical performance of different SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibody tests, J. Med. Virol. 92 (2020) 2243–2247, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26145.
- [92] C. for D, R. Health, In Vitro Diagnostics EUAs, FDA, 2020. https://www.fda. gov/medical-devices/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19-emergency-useauthorizations-medical-devices/vitro-diagnostics-euas. accessed October 2, 2020.
- [93] G.A. Fahle, S.H. Fischer, Comparison of six commercial DNA extraction kits for recovery of cytomegalovirus DNA from spiked human specimens, J. Clin. Microbiol. 38 (2000) 3860–3863, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.38.10.3860-3863.2000.
- [94] K.-M. Shen, N.M. Sabbavarapu, C.-Y. Fu, J.-T. Jan, J.-R. Wang, S.-C. Hung, G.-B. Lee, An integrated microfluidic system for rapid detection and multiple subtyping of influenza A viruses by using glycan-coated magnetic beads and RT-PCR, Lab Chip 19 (2019) 1277–1286, https://doi.org/10.1039/ C8LC01369A.
- [95] J. Zhang, X. Su, J. Xu, J. Wang, J. Zeng, C. Li, W. Chen, T. Li, X. Min, D. Zhang, S. Zhang, S. Ge, J. Zhang, N. Xia, A point of care platform based on microfluidic

chip for nucleic acid extraction in less than 1 minute, Biomicrofluidics 13 (2019), 034102, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5088552.

- [96] E.K. Heiniger, J.R. Buser, L. Mireles, X. Zhang, P.D. Ladd, B.R. Lutz, P. Yager, Comparison of point-of-care-compatible lysis methods for bacteria and viruses, J. Microbiol. Methods 128 (2016) 80–87, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.mimet.2016.07.007.
- [97] M.F. Neto, M.A. Butzler, J.L. Reed, X. Rui, M.J. Fisher, D.M. Kelso, S.M. McFall, Immiscible phase filter extraction and equivalent amplification of genotypes 1–6 of hepatitis C RNA: the building blocks for point-of-care diagnosis, J. Virol Methods 248 (2017) 107–115, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jviromet.2017.06.016.
- [98] F.R. Cui, J. Wang, S.M. Opal, A. Tripathi, Isolating influenza RNA from clinical samples using microfluidic oil-water interfaces, PloS One 11 (2016), e0149522, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149522.
- [99] K.A. Hagan, C.R. Reedy, M.L. Uchimoto, D. Basu, D.A. Engel, J.P. Landers, An integrated, valveless system for microfluidic purification and reverse transcription-PCR amplification of RNA for detection of infectious agents, Lab Chip 11 (2011) 957–961, https://doi.org/10.1039/c0lc00136h.
- [100] B.S. Ferguson, S.F. Buchsbaum, T.-T. Wu, K. Hsieh, Y. Xiao, R. Sun, H.T. Soh, Genetic analysis of H1N1 influenza virus from throat swab samples in a microfluidic system for point-of-care diagnostics, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133 (2011) 9129–9135, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja203981w.
- [101] X. Ye, J. Xu, L. Lu, X. Li, X. Fang, J. Kong, Equipment-free nucleic acid extraction and amplification on a simple paper disc for point-of-care diagnosis of rotavirus A, Anal. Chim. Acta 1018 (2018) 78–85, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.aca.2018.02.068.
- [102] M. Yang, Y. Ke, X. Wang, H. Ren, W. Liu, H. Lu, W. Zhang, S. Liu, G. Chang, S. Tian, L. Wang, L. Huang, C. Liu, R. Yang, Z. Chen, Development and evaluation of a rapid and sensitive EBOV-RPA test for rapid diagnosis of Ebola virus disease, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 26943, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26943.
- [103] A. Priye, S.W. Bird, Y.K. Light, C.S. Ball, O.A. Negrete, R.J. Meagher, A smartphone-based diagnostic platform for rapid detection of Zika, chikungunya, and dengue viruses, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 44778, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep44778.
- [104] Q. Cao, M. Mahalanabis, J. Chang, B. Carey, C. Hsieh, A. Stanley, C.A. Odell, P. Mitchell, J. Feldman, N.R. Pollock, C.M. Klapperich, Microfluidic chip for molecular amplification of influenza A RNA in human respiratory specimens, PloS One 7 (2012), e33176, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033176.
- [105] F. Stumpf, F. Schwemmer, T. Hutzenlaub, D. Baumann, O. Strohmeier, G. Dingemanns, G. Simons, C. Sager, L. Plobner, F. von Stetten, R. Zengerle, D. Mark, LabDisk with complete reagent prestorage for sample-to-answer nucleic acid based detection of respiratory pathogens verified with influenza A H3N2 virus, Lab Chip 16 (2016) 199–207, https://doi.org/10.1039/ c5lc00871a.
- [106] J.H. Jung, B.H. Park, S.J. Oh, G. Choi, T.S. Seo, Integrated centrifugal reverse transcriptase loop-mediated isothermal amplification microdevice for influenza A virus detection, Biosens. Bioelectron. 68 (2015) 218–224, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2014.12.043.
- [107] W. Abu Al-Soud, P. Rådström, Effects of amplification facilitators on diagnostic PCR in the presence of blood, feces, and meat, J. Clin. Microbiol. 38 (2000) 4463–4470, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.38.12.4463-4470.2000.
- [108] Y.-P. Wong, S. Othman, Y.-L. Lau, S. Radu, H.-Y. Chee, Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): a versatile technique for detection of micro-organisms, J. Appl. Microbiol. 124 (2018) 626–643, https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jam.13647.
- [109] P. Francois, M. Tangomo, J. Hibbs, E.-J. Bonetti, C.C. Boehme, T. Notomi, M.D. Perkins, J. Schrenzel, Robustness of a loop-mediated isothermal amplification reaction for diagnostic applications, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 62 (2011) 41–48, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2011.00785.x.
- [110] L. Z, Z. Y, Z. H, Z. Y, C. J, Z. J, Comparison of loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) and real-time PCR method targeting a 529-bp repeat element for diagnosis of toxoplasmosis, Vet. Parasitol. 185 (2012), https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.VETPAR.2011.10.016.
- [111] M. Y, K. H, N. T, Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): recent progress in research and development, J. Infect. Chemother.: Official Journal of the Japan Society of Chemotherapy 19 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1007/ S10156-013-0590-0.
- [112] Q. Wang, Y. Zhou, S. Li, C. Zhuo, S. Xu, L. Huang, L. Yang, K. Liao, Real-time fluorescence loop mediated isothermal amplification for the detection of Acinetobacter baumannii, PloS One 8 (2013), e66406, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0066406.
- [113] S. Kemleu, D. Guelig, C. Eboumbou Moukoko, E. Essangui, S. Diesburg, A. Mouliom, B. Melingui, J. Manga, C. Donkeu, A. Epote, G. Texier, P. LaBarre, R. Burton, L. Ayong, A field-tailored reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal assay for high sensitivity detection of plasmodium falciparum infections, PloS One 11 (2016), e0165506, https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0165506.
- [114] G.L. Damhorst, C. Duarte-Guevara, W. Chen, T. Ghonge, B.T. Cunningham, R. Bashir, Smartphone-imaged HIV-1 reverse-transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) on a chip from whole blood, Engineering 1 (2015) 324–335, https://doi.org/10.15302/J-ENG-2015072.
- [115] K. Hayashida, K. Kajino, L. Hachaambwa, B. Namangala, C. Sugimoto, Direct blood dry LAMP: a rapid, stable, and easy diagnostic tool for Human African Trypanosomiasis, PLoS Neglected Trop. Dis. 9 (2015), e0003578, https://

doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003578.

- [116] K.A. Curtis, D.L. Rudolph, I. Nejad, J. Singleton, A. Beddoe, B. Weigl, P. LaBarre, S.M. Owen, Isothermal amplification using a chemical heating device for point-of-care detection of HIV-1, PloS One 7 (2012), e31432, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0031432.
- [117] J. Barletta, A. Bartolome, N.T. Constantine, Immunomagnetic quantitative immuno-PCR for detection of less than one HIV-1 virion, J. Virol Methods 157 (2009) 122–132, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2008.12.013.
- [118] T. Andrew Taton, Chad A. Mirkin, Robert L. Letsinger, Scanometric DNA array detection with nanoparticle probes, Science 289 (2000) 1757–1760, https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5485.1757.
- [119] C.D. Chin, T. Laksanasopin, Y.K. Cheung, D. Steinmiller, V. Linder, H. Parsa, J. Wang, H. Moore, R. Rouse, G. Umviligihozo, E. Karita, L. Mwambarangwe, S.L. Braunstein, J. van de Wijgert, R. Sahabo, J.E. Justman, W. El-Sadr, S.K. Sia, Microfluidics-based diagnostics of infectious diseases in the developing world, Nat. Med. 17 (2011) 1015–1019, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2408.
- [120] L. Azzi, G. Carcano, F. Gianfagna, P. Grossi, D.D. Gasperina, A. Genoni, M. Fasano, F. Sessa, L. Tettamanti, F. Carinci, V. Maurino, A. Rossi, A. Tagliabue, A. Baj, Saliva is a reliable tool to detect SARS-CoV-2, J. Infect. 81 (2020) E45–E50, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.005. S0163445320302139.
- [121] J.G. Yoon, J.Y. Song, S.-Y. Yoon, C.S. Lim, H. Seong, J.Y. Noh, H.J. Cheong, W.J. Kim, Clinical significance of a high SARS-CoV-2 viral load in the saliva, J. Kor. Med. Sci. 35 (2020) e195, https://doi.org/10.3346/ jkms.2020.35.e195.



Micaela Everitt is a graduate student in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland. She received her B.S. in Biomedical Engineering from the University of Washington. She is the recipient of an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship.



Alana Tillery is an undergraduate student in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland. She is the recipient of the Extraordinary Service Award and the Outstanding Junior Award, both from the Fischell Department of Bioengineering. She is also a recipient of the Philip Merril Presidential Scholar Award.



Martha David is an undergraduate student in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland. She is the recipient of the Clark Opportunity Transfer Scholarship and the Bechtel Scholarship for Engineering Transfer Students.



Nikita Singh is an undergraduate student in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland. She is the recipient of the President's Scholarship and has received the ASPIRE Fellowship at the University of Maryland.



Aviva Borison is a graduate student in Biomedical Engineering at Boston University. She received her B.S. in Bioengineering at the University of Maryland in 2020. While at the University of Maryland she was a recipient of the President's Scholarship.



Analytica Chimica Acta 1146 (2021) 184–199

Ian White is an Associate Professor and Director of Undergraduate Studies in the Fischell Department of Bioengineering at the University of Maryland. Dr. White received his Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in 2002, where he developed next generation optical metropolitan area communication networks. He then served as a Member of Technical Staff at Sprint's Advanced Technology Laboratories until 2005. Following a postdoctoral fellowship at the University of Missouri Life Sciences Center, Dr. White joined the engineering faculty at the University of Maryland. His research group aims to develop novel microsystems for applications in chemical analytics and disease diagnosis.